

- 05 December 2011
- 2 CPMP/EWP/556/95 Rev. 2
- 3 Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP)
- Guideline on clinical investigation of medicinal products
- other than NSAIDs for treatment of rheumatoid arthritis 5
- Final draft dated 28th November 2011 6

Draft Agreed by Rheumatology-Immunology Working Party (RIWP)	November 2011
Adoption by CHMP for release for consultation	5 December 2011
End of consultation (deadline for comments)	05 June 2012
Agreed by RIWP	<month yyyy=""></month>
Adoption by CHMP	<dd month="" yyyy=""></dd>
Date for coming into effect	<dd month="" yyyy="">1</dd>

8 9

This guideline replaces the POINTS TO CONSIDER ON THE CLINICAL INVESTIGATION OF MEDICINAL PRODUCTS OTHER THAN NSAIDS IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS (CPMP/EWP/556/95 REV. 1)

10 11

> Comments should be provided using this template. The completed comments form should be sent to R-IWP@ema.europa.eu

12

Keywords	Rheumatoid arthritis, disease modifying drugs, biologicals, clinical
	development, CHMP, EMA, guideline

13

¹ First day of the 7th month.

An agency of the European Union



Guideline on clinical investigation of medicinal products other than NSAIDs for treatment of rheumatoid arthritis

Table of contents

16

17	LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	3
18	Executive summary	4
19	1. Introduction (Background)	4
20	2. Scope	5
21	3. Legal basis	6
22 23	4. Goals of treatment, potential labelling claims and methods to assess efficacy	6
24	4.1. Goals of RA treatment and potential labelling claims	6
25	4.2. Tools to measure efficacy (primary or secondary endpoints)	
26	4.2.1. Assessment of symptoms and disease activity	
27	4.2.2. Assessment of structural damage	
28	4.3. Secondary or supportive evidence for efficacy	
29	5. Strategy and design of clinical trials	10
30	5.1. Pharmacokinetics	10
31	5.2. Dose-Response studies	10
32	5.3. Interactions	
33	5.4. Therapeutic confirmatory studies	11
34	5.4.1. Target population	11
35	5.4.2. Study design	11
36	5.4.3. First line indication	12
37	5.4.4. Second line indication	13
38	5.4.5. Third-line indication	
39	5.4.6. Comparators/concomitant interventions	
40	5.4.7. Duration of clinical trials	15
41	6. Clinical safety evaluation	15
42	6.1. Specific adverse events to be monitored	
43	6.2. Extent of population exposure to assess clinical safety	
44	6.3. Extent of population exposure to assess clinical safety	
45	References	

List of abbreviations

48 ACPA Anti-citrullinated peptide/protein antibodies

49 ACR response American College of Rheumatology response criteria

50 AE Adverse event

51 AIMS Arthritis Impact Measurement Scale

52 BMI Body mass index

53 CCP Anti-cyclic citrullinated protein/peptide

54 CDAI Clinical Disease Activity Index

55 CHMP Committee for Human Medicinal Products

56 CRP C-reactive protein
57 DAS Disease activity score

58 DMARDs Disease-modifying antirheumatic drug

59 EMA European Medicines Agency

60 EU European Union

61 EULAR European League against Rheumatism 62 HAQ Health Assessment Questionnaire

63 ICH International Conference on Harmonization of Technical Requirements for

Registration of Pharmaceuticals fro Human Use

65 IA Intra-articular 66 IM Intramuscular

67 JIA Juvenile idiopathic arthritis

68 MTX Methotrexate

69 NSAID Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug

70 PIP Paediatric Investigational Plan

71 PK Pharmacokinetic

72 PSUR Periodic safety update report

73 RA Rheumatoid arthritis
 74 RF Rheumatoid factor
 75 RMP Risk Management Plan

76 SDAI Simplified Disease Activity Index
 77 SF-36 Short-Form 36-item Health Survey
 78 SPC Summary of Product Characteristics

79 TNF-a Tumor necrosis factor-alpha 80 TNF(R) Tumor necrosis factor (receptor)

81 VAS Visual analogue scale

82

Executive summary

- 84 This document is intended to provide guidance on the clinical evaluation of medicinal products other
- 85 than non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis (RA). RA
- 86 is a chronic systemic inflammatory disease which mainly affects specific synovial joints but also has an
- 87 impact on other organ systems. It often causes joint destruction, deformity and functional impairment.
- Pharmacological therapies other than NSAIDs for RA are intended to treat symptoms, disease activity
- 89 and structural progression of disease. Available are synthetic disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs
- 90 (DMARDs) such as methotrexate (MTX) and sulfasalazine, biological DMARDs and corticosteroids.
- 91 Study parameters such as patient characteristics, primary and secondary endpoints as well as study
- 92 duration have to be carefully considered in order to ensure that clinical trials support the intended
- 93 therapeutic claim.

83

- 94 This document is a revision of the Points to Consider adopted in November 2003. It takes into account
- 95 recent developments relating to study design and also validated disease activity evaluation tools to
- 96 assess important clinical and structural outcomes. Pharmacological therapy has advanced for RA.
- 97 Therapeutic strategies employing more aggressive intervention in early disease, often using
- 98 combinations of non-biologic DMARDs with targeted biologics, have shown a faster onset of action and
- 99 more profound clinical responses than traditional approaches. Goal-directed treat-to-target strategies
- are now employed. This makes a modified recommendation for the assessment of these therapies
- 101 necessary. Adapted study designs and validated assessment tools are needed.
- 102 In addition, the elements for the assessment of safety issues which should be considered when
- developing new pharmacological treatments have to be updated. The demonstrated safety profile will
- be essential for the benefit-risk balance in a defined patient population. Long-term safety of disease
- 105 modifying agents requires careful attention in view of potential serious adverse events caused by
- immunomodulation.

107

1. Introduction (Background)

- 108 Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is thought to be an autoimmune disease, manifested by accumulation and
- 109 activation of several cell systems: T cells with release of T-cell derived cytokines; B cells with
- 110 subsequent autoantibody responses, and macrophage- and fibroblast-like cells which produce large
- amounts of pro-inflammatory cytokines. The resulting hyperplastic synovial membrane, in conjunction
- 112 with osteoclast activation, leads to the degradation of adjacent cartilage and bone. Blood levels of C-
- 113 reactive protein (CRP), rheumatoid factor (RF) and ACPA (anti-citrullinated peptide/protein antibodies,
- such as anti-cyclic citrullinated protein/peptide (CCP) antibodies) are increased in many patients. The
- main clinical symptoms arise from a chronic fluctuating inflammation of the joints which, if
- uncontrolled, leads to progressive joint destruction resulting in deformities and disability. The disease
- can be accompanied by systemic manifestations (e.g. vasculitis, nodules).
- 118 The prevalence of RA is in the order of 0.5-1% of the population. It occurs about two to three times
- more commonly in women than in men, although this gender difference disappears in later life as the
- overall prevalence increases. Onset is maximal in the fifth decade. Genetic and ethnic influences on
- 121 prevalence have been identified. Smoking particularly in patients with HLA-DRB1 shared epitope alleles
- may influence the development and outcome of RA. The exact pathogenesis of this disease is still
- 123 unknown.

- Because of the severity of clinical symptoms and the progressive nature of the disease, the early
- institution of medication and tight control of therapy is now recommended in order to control
- 126 symptoms and suppress the disease process.
- 127 Features of the disease that are amenable to improvement by existing pharmaceutical means comprise
- 128 pain, inflammation, physical disability and destruction of joints. In addition non-pharmacological
- intervention such as, joint protective or joint replacing orthopaedic surgery may need to be performed.
- 130 Physical and occupational therapy, as well as psychotherapeutic support, are applied concomitantly in
- many patients.
- 132 Adverse effects from current anti-rheumatic medication occur frequently, affect various organ systems,
- and are sometimes serious. Special measures of surveillance and follow-up are often required
- depending on the specific characteristic of the drug or the combination (e.g. blood cells, liver function,
- renal function or infections, development of antibodies, malignancies) or of the older population being
- 136 treated.
- 137 Current and future developments will influence the understanding of underlying pathogenetic
- mechanisms. RA is a disease with multiple phenotypes. Joint involvement and damage is variable from
- patient to patient as can be the course of the disease (e.g. cyclic or persistent). The population may be
- 140 seronegative or may have many different autoantibodies. Variable combinations of these
- 141 characteristics create a broad heterogeneity that is manifested by differences in disease outcomes
- 142 from remission to severe disability and even premature mortality.
- 143 Further development of diagnostic instruments (e.g. disease activity status and response scores,
- remission criteria) have been elaborated in recent years and efforts are still ongoing. Any claim based
- on these instruments must show convincing evidence, including validation and demonstration of clinical
- 146 relevance.

- 147 New ACR/EULAR classification criteria for RA have been validated as being more sensitive in early
- disease. Strategies for the development and validation of predictive tools for individual clinical
- 149 situations in RA based on biosignature data are ongoing. A combination of tools such as clinical
- assessments, with a novel approach to biomarker validation may help an improved understanding and
- prediction of the course of the disease and response to treatment for individual patients.
- Despite significant advances in the treatment of RA in the last decade, there is still approximately one
- third of patients who do not tolerate or who are resistant to available pharmacological treatment
- options. New treatment options are therefore in demand.

2. Scope

- 156 The scope of this guideline is to provide a European common position on pertinent issues relating to
- 157 the clinical evaluation of medicinal products (e.g. DMARDs, biologicals) for the treatment of RA
- diagnosed according to ACR/EULAR classification criteria 2010.
- 159 NSAIDs and other symptomatic treatments that will be used in RA patients, but are not specifically
- disease modifying, are outside the scope of this document.
- This guideline gives guidance on the performance of studies involving the drug treatment for RA only.
- Separate guidance is available for other rheumatic diseases such as osteoarthritis, juvenile idiopathic
- arthritis, ankylosing spondylarthritis and psoriatic arthritis in view of their different pathogeneses and
- 164 natural histories.

3. Legal basis

165

176

177

178

192

195

196

197

198

- 166 This guideline has to be read in conjunction with the introduction and general principles (4) and Part I
- and II of the Annex I to Directive 2001/83/EC as amended. Applicants should also refer to other
- relevant European and ICH guidelines (in their current version), especially those on:
- Choice of Control Group in Clinical Trials CPMP/ICH/364/96 (ICH E10);
- The Extent of Population Exposure to Assess Clinical Safety for Drugs CPMP/ICH/375/95 (ICH E1A);
- Studies in Support of Special Populations: Geriatrics CPMP/ICH/379/99 (ICH E7);
- Reflection Paper on Methodological Issues in Confirmatory Clinical Trials with Flexible Design and Analysis plan CHMP/EWP/2459/02;.
- Guideline on Summary of Product Characteristics (Revision 2, September 2009).

4. Goals of treatment, potential labelling claims and methods to assess efficacy

4.1. Goals of RA treatment and potential labelling claims

- 179 Section 4.1 of the SmPC should contain the indication and a brief description of the indicated patient
- population. All relevant endpoints that have been assessed as supportive for the claims for efficacy
- should be detailed in section 5.1 of the SmPC.
- 182 In current practice, the leading principle of the treatment of moderate-severe RA is disease
- modification, by obtaining and maintaining low disease activity state or even remission. This should be
- reflected by the choice of the primary endpoint (see section 4.2 & 5.2 of this document).
- 185 Though controlling disease activity is the general principle of treatment of RA in all stages, response
- may differ between treatment-naïve patients in early disease stage and (very) advanced, treatment-
- 187 experienced patients. Some products may be effective both in early and advanced stage, but safety
- 188 issues may limit its use in first-line treatment. Therefore, it should be specified in the wording of the
- indication for which specific target population the product is indicated, once the benefit-risk balance
- 190 has been considered positive. For definitions, selection criteria, study design and primary endpoints of
- the target populations see section 5.4 of this guidance document.
- 193 The following goals should be addressed in the treatment of RA:
- a. relief of symptoms, e.g. pain
 - b. achievement of remission/low disease activity state
 - c. decrease of inflammatory synovitis
 - d. improvement or sustainment of physical function
 - e. prevention or slowing of structural joint damage
- 199 The goals should be assessed by objective measures or scales/scores all of which have to be validated.
- Which of these goals individually or combined are incorporated into study protocols depends on the
- 201 nature of the agent being studied. The prevention of concomitant treatment-related complications
- and/or RA-related co-morbidities can be additional goals provided this has been established before
- 203 commencing the study and by the application of appropriate methods.
- 204 Claims in the SmPC (Sections 4.1 and 5.1, respectively)

- The claimed indication should be clearly and concisely stated in SmPC section 4.1. The target indication
- should be the **treatment of rheumatoid arthritis** provided that disease-modification has been
- 207 demonstrated in a clinically meaningful way.
- The target population in which a positive benefit-risk profile has been demonstrated should be
- 209 identified concisely by indicating main characteristics as the disease activity (e.g. "moderate to severe,
- active rheumatoid arthritis") as well as previous treatment (e.g. DMARD-naive patients) and if
- appropriate the response (e.g. patients who have not responded adequately to one or more DMARD
- treatments including MTX, or TNF-inhibitors). In addition, it should be indicated whether the product
- 213 should be given alone or in combination.
- Given the various elements of disease modifying activity, information on the demonstrated effects
- should be indicated in the SmPC section 5.1 The presentation should be in conjunction with the
- description of the clinical studies where such effect was demonstrated in a clinically meaningful manner
- 217 (i.e. in SmPC section 5.1, sub-section "Clinical efficacy and safety"). The therapeutic indication (SmPC
- section 4.1) should make cross-reference to this section.
- The specific claims to be reported with the clinical studies in SmPC section 5.1 usually concern the
- 220 following:

- treatment of signs and symptoms
- prevention/slowing of structural joint damage
- improvement of physical function.
- 224 All these claims should be supported with appropriate clinical data.
- The initial claim of treatment in RA can be for treatment of signs and symptoms and improvement of
- 226 physical function. However, planning studies to demonstrate the prevention/slowing of structural joint
- damage is also expected and when demonstrated will be added to section 5.1 of the SmPC.
- 228 Criteria for disease remission in RA have been redefined by ACR/EULAR and will need to be addressed
- before designing clinical trials that could support a labelling claim for remission of disease.
- 230 For the indication claim "treatment of rheumatoid arthritis" all listed treatment goals are important.
- 231 Therefore it is expected that development programmes are designed to address all these elements
- including the demonstration of long-term disease modification. Additional data might be requested to
- 233 demonstrate such beneficial effect (see section 5).
- 234 Only clinical efficacy and safety data related to the approved therapeutic indication should be
- presented when describing clinical studies in SmPC section 5.1. The only exception is data in the
- paediatric population, where all clinically relevant data should be presented.

237 **4.2. Tools to measure efficacy (primary or secondary endpoints)**

- The following efficacy parameters should be reported at least at baseline, during and at the end of the blinded study phase:
- a) swollen joint count (28 joints or more)
- b) tender joint count (28 joints or more)
 - c) physician's global assessment of disease activity (e.g. VAS)
- d) patient's global assessment of disease activity (e.g. VAS)
- e) pain score (patient's assessment of pain, VAS, Likert scale)
- 245 f) physical function (e.g. HAQ, AIMS)
- 246 g) acute phase reactants (e.g. erythrocyte sedimentation rate, C-reactive protein)

- 247 h) radiographic outcomes (e.g. erosions, joint space narrowing; e.g. Sharp van der Heijde scores)
- 249 The efficacy measures a) to f) refer to symptoms and signs characterising the state of the disease.
- 250 Depending on the pharmacological characteristics of the treatment studied the primary efficacy
- measure(s) has/have to be chosen appropriately. Results from the studies will have to be compatible
- with claimed indications (see section 5, confirmatory studies). Other measures may be acceptable, if
- 253 validated.

4.2.1. Assessment of symptoms and disease activity

- 255 In general combined measures are to be used to document efficacy. For this purpose only validated
- 256 composite endpoints (e.g. DAS28, including EULAR categories, ACR response criteria, Simplified
- Disease Activity Index (SDAI) or Clinical Disease Activity Index (CDAI)) are acceptable as primary or
- secondary endpoints and results need to be consistent with the single efficacy parameter(s) described.
- 259 In general, it is expected that both EULAR and ACR outcomes should be reported. Other composite
- 260 endpoints will be accepted after validation only.
- The chosen outcome measures should not only be used to show improvement of signs and symptoms
- as a change in disease activity (response) but also status of disease activity and worsening of disease.
- Appropriate descriptive statistics of the baseline, the endpoints and change of the single variables
- included in the core set are recommended.
- 265 In confirmatory trials the full potential of a test drug should be assessed. Depending on the properties
- of the product and patient characteristics this may also be reflected by using the ACR70 response
- and/or validated remission criteria. ACR/EULAR has currently elaborated a new definition of remission.
- 268 Further remission criteria are those based on the SDAI and CDAI. Remission may be assessed as
- remission on drug or where appropriate on a drug-free period. The percentage of patients achieving a
- low disease activity state by composite scores (DAS, DAS28, SDAI, CDAI) could additionally be
- assessed subject to validation of the endpoints chosen.
- 272 It is important that response criteria are adequately justified, chosen before the study is initiated and
- 273 the thresholds predefined. Time to onset of the primary outcome and sustainability of the primary
- outcome should be assessed.
- 275 For improvement in signs and symptoms the ACR20/50 and/or low disease activity should be assessed
- after 3 to 6 months depending on the properties of the product and the trial design. For trials with an
- active comparator the ACR70 and remission can be assessed at 6 months as these endpoints
- demonstrating higher efficacy can take a longer time to become evident.
- 279 Concomitant symptomatic treatment may be used, but should be documented carefully and the
- possible influence on the results and the way to analyse this should be indicated in the protocol.
- 281 Additionally, careful documentation of concomitant non-pharmacological treatment has to be
- 282 performed. Medication for diseases other than rheumatic should be clearly documented and it is
- recommended that wherever possible that treatments be standardised and pre-defined.

4.2.2. Assessment of structural damage

- 285 Radiographic progression of RA and long term response to therapy are generally assessed by
- quantifying changes in joint space narrowing and erosions visible on serial plain radiographs. Sharp-
- van der Heijde scoring system is recommended. The use of other assessment methods should be
- 288 justified.

289	It is recommended to demonstrate radiological differences of hands and forefeet on the basis of
290	before/after comparisons using full randomisation and pre-agreed criteria. The conduct of the
291	radiological analysis should be described in detail. Deviations from published and validated
292	methodology should be justified. Radiographs should be taken on fixed and predefined time points and
293	be assessed by at least two assessors blinded to the treatment allocation of the patient, sequence of
294	the radiographs and initial assessment(s) of the other assessor(s). The method for obtaining the final
295	score should be described in detail (e.g. consensus) and be predefined. Intra- and inter- observed
296	variation should be discussed with regard to the observed differences between treatment arms.
297	Handling of missing information should be described and justified. Slowing of radiographic progression
298	does not in itself define a patient benefit and demonstration of such an effect is considered to be a
299	surrogate for long-term clinical benefit (signs and symptoms and/or physical function benefits).
300	However, there is good indirect evidence that, by favourably modifying the natural history of
301	rheumatoid arthritis in terms of structural changes, long-term clinical benefit will occur in a large
302	proportion of patients. It would be expected that an applicant will provide additional evidence to
303	support this surrogacy.

The extent of radiographic changes in RA varies greatly across populations and is related to the extent of baseline damage and the disease activity. The minimal clinically important difference in progression of structural damage in a given target population should be defined consistently across trials. Any chosen cut-off value will need to be defined in the study protocol and be justified carefully considering the demographic and baseline disease characteristics of the target population.

Using the existing validated technique to assess radiographic progression, i.e. radiographs, measurement after 1 year may be sufficient to confirm efficacy in terms of endpoints relevant to slowing/prevention of structural damage claim. In exceptional cases a measurement after at least 6 months may be sufficient depending on the properties of the test drug; this has to be justified by robustness of the method and convincing clinical data. It is important to demonstrate long-term maintenance of this effect for an additional 12 months.

Development of imaging techniques, e.g. radiograph, MRI, ultrasound, may lead to increased sensitivity. Where MRI is used to supportively document efficacy, clinically relevant changes should be defined and justified. At present this technique is not established as a sufficiently recognised measure of anti-rheumatic drug efficacy.

4.3. Secondary or supportive evidence for efficacy

This can include the following if not assessed as primary endpoints:

- a) ACR 50 response at Week 12
- b) DAS28 (using CRP) response at Week 12
- 323 c) Remission at weeks 12 and/or 24
- 324 d) HAQ score and FACIT scores

325

309

310

311

312

313

314

315

316

317

318

319

320

321

- Extra-articular manifestations of RA (e.g. nodules, vasculitis) are important to assess in this systemic disease.
- Other methods such as arthroscopy, scintigraphy, ultrasonography, or other biochemical
- measurements (e.g. serum, urine, joint fluid) may also be used to show supportive evidence for
- 330 efficacy but only when the methods have been subjected to prior validation and their clinical relevance
- 331 predefined.

332 Biomarkers are optional, but might provide more insight into which specific target population the test 333 drug may be most useful. 334 5. Strategy and design of clinical trials 335 5.1. Pharmacokinetics 336 337 The pharmacokinetic properties of the medicinal product should be investigated following existing 338 guidelines. 339 For some medicinal products which are for intra-articular administration (e.g. corticosteroids) the 340 residence time in the joint and the systemic availability of the active substance may be investigated in 341 order to obtain data about maintenance of effect and systemic safety. 5.2. Dose-Response studies 342 343 Dose-response studies should be conducted in accordance with existing guidelines. 344 Specifically for the RA patient population, Phase II clinical trials may show efficacy but not reveal the 345 full potency of a new compound over time. Therefore, for most products using ACR20 as primary 346 outcome might be appropriate. 347 In some cases ACR20 may be not sensitive enough to detect differences between doses, especially in 348 early arthritis or when non-biological agents are assessed. Instead, an outcome like swollen joint count 349 may be more appropriate. 350 In general, duration of dose finding studies depends on the mode of action of the specific drug. For 351 drugs claiming modification of signs and symptoms 3 months is considered appropriate. 352 5.3. Interactions 353 Interaction studies should be performed in accordance with the existing guidelines. Efficacy and safety 354 implications of concomitant drugs likely to be co-administered in clinical practice should be evaluated. 355 Particular attention should be focused on safety and efficacy interactions with other drugs planned to 356 be administered during pivotal trials. 357 Due to the high proportion of patients using anti-rheumatic therapy other than the one studied or 358 treatments other than anti-rheumatic because of co-morbidity, interaction studies regularly have to be 359 performed. Selection of substances for conducting interaction studies should be based on the known 360 pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties of the agent studied, the existing anti-rheumatic 361 agents, and other possibly interacting medications. Recommendations from the guideline on

If discontinuation of prior DMARD/biologic medication is required, the time of withdrawal prior to

362

363

interactions have to be taken into account.

5.4. Therapeutic confirmatory studies

5.4.1. Target population

- 368 Observable effects of treatment are dependent on diagnostic criteria applied to patients when entering
- 369 a study and disease related factors such as stage and duration of disease or disease activity have to be
- documented appropriately using predefined criteria. With respect to generally accepted predictors for
- 371 progression of the disease, patients have to be fully and carefully documented in all relevant respects;
- the mechanism of action and the indication sought have to be taken into consideration too. Thus initial
- 373 symptoms and signs of active disease (as a minimum measure a) to f) of "tools", (see 4.2. above)),
- 374 radiographs, presence of non-articular symptoms and signs, and concomitant diseases all have to be
- 375 recorded. The level of disease activity/symptoms at baseline should be of sufficient severity to permit
- 376 detection of relevant changes.
- 377 Dose and duration of previous and present anti-rheumatic medication have to be documented
- 378 appropriately.

366

367

- 379 Other treatment modalities potentially interfering with the effect of study treatment are of particular
- 380 importance. Careful documentation of concomitant medication for diseases other than rheumatic must
- 381 be completely documented.
- 382 The patient population should be well characterised as they may show distinct differences in
- responsiveness to treatment and observed safety profile (e.g. early RA, DMARD failure, TNF-inhibitor-
- failures, multiple-mode of action failures, co-morbidities). The reasons for failure/discontinuation of
- previous therapy should be provided. The target population should match the proposed therapeutic
- 386 indication and its demographics.
- 387 Specifically selected populations may be defined in the future: biomarkers and genetic markers for
- 388 example might serve to predict patients with early RA who are more likely to progress to persistent or
- 389 erosive arthritis and might benefit from specific treatments. These markers might also serve to
- 390 differentiate responders from non-responders thereby enabling tailoring therapy to the individual
- 391 patient.

395

- 392 At present diagnostic criteria for the undifferentiated arthritis population are controversial and need to
- 393 be defined further and validated for use as reliable instruments for the definition of an appropriate
- 394 study population.

5.4.2. Study design

- 396 Study design, outcome measures and duration should be appropriately chosen and justified with
- regard to the mode of action, magnitude and time course of effect related to the test drug.
- 398 Clinical trials in RA should be randomized and blinded, and the parallel group design is the preferred
- 399 means of assessing efficacy and safety. There are several recognised design variants of a parallel
- group trial (e.g. add-on design) (see 5.4.3 to 5.4.5 below).
- 401 Each of these designs allows the continuation of randomised therapy for sufficient time to establish
- 402 effects on chosen endpoints. In all of these designs current therapeutic strategies favouring early
- 403 treatment should be taken into account.
- 404 Additionally, the time to onset of primary outcome (a particular response or a certain disease activity)
- 405 should be assessed.

- 406 If studies (e.g. add-on design) require stable disease severity on DMARD medications (e.g. MTX), this
- 407 medication should be given for at least the time required for the clinical effect to be fully established
- 408 (e.g. MTX: 6 month) and a stable dose should be given 6 weeks to 3 months prior to initiating
- 409 treatment with the test drug.
- 410 Assessment of relevant subpopulation or subgroup analyses should be prospectively planned, e.g. early
- 411 disease, degree of structural damage at baseline, concomitant medication, patients refractory to other
- 412 treatments
- 413 In order to support a chronic treatment claim, maintenance of efficacy on treatment and/or after
- discontinuation (drug free period) should be demonstrated by a randomised withdrawal trial. In
- 415 particular, the length of treatment needed for early disease has to be explored.
- Three separate indications are distinguished: first (DMARD-naïve patients), second (MTX-failure or -
- 417 intolerant patients) and third line (anti-TNF-failure or -intolerant patients). See sections 5.4.3 5.4.5
- 418 below for endpoints and design.

5.4.3. First line indication

DMARD-naïve (or MTX-naïve) patients

- In DMARD-naïve (or MTX-naïve) RA patients a test drug could receive a first-line therapy indication
- 422 either as monotherapy or in combination with MTX or another DMARD. For inclusion criteria, the
- 423 ACR/EULAR classification criteria (2010) can be applied.
- 424 As MTX is the standard DMARD treatment in RA a direct comparison to MTX in Phase III trials should
- be performed. The use of another DMARD should be justified.
- 426

419

- As monotherapy a two-arm study comparing the test drug with an established active comparator
- 428 (MTX) is recommended. Superiority to MTX should be demonstrated. In exceptional circumstances
- non-inferiority to MTX with an appropriately justified non-inferiority margin and an overall
- favourable benefit-risk profile could be accepted if the test drug demonstrates a clear advantage
- 431 (such as faster onset of action, better tolerability) and also has a large safety database in RA (e.g.
- a drug already licensed for second and third line indications in RA)
- 433
- <u>As combination therapy</u>, a three-arm study comparing the test drug alone, MTX alone, and the
- combination in the same trial is normally recommended. Superiority of the combination to MTX
- alone has to be shown and needs to be clinically meaningful. The need for add-on treatment needs
- to be justified (e.g. reduction of drug antibody development, PD effect).
- 438 Different time of onset of effect between test and active comparator may have an impact on the results
- and this should be sufficiently considered.
- Low disease activity may serve as the primary endpoint.
- In early RA remission responder rate is an achievable and optimal goal. Since regulatory experience is
- limited and scientific discussion is ongoing, selection of patients and trial design should be discussed in
- 443 a scientific advice procedure.
- To assess disease activity a minimum duration of 6 months is considered appropriate; follow-up
- (preferably blinding maintained) for at least up to 1 year may be required for showing maintenance of
- 446 effect and safety.

- 447 Structural damage should be assessed at 12 months but in some cases 6 months may be sufficient. An
- additional 12 months to demonstrate maintenance of efficacy is required (i.e. a total of 24 months data
- 449 is required where structural data demonstrating efficacy has been shown at 12 months initially and a
- 450 total of 18 months data is required where the structural assessment has demonstrated efficacy at 6
- 451 months).

453

5.4.4. Second line indication

MTX-failure or MTX-intolerant patients

- 454 In this context, failure is defined as inadequate clinical response to previous MTX therapy after
- 455 treatment with MTX. A MTX-failure is usually defined as a patient with persistent disease activity
- despite MTX therapy on a stable dose of at least 15 mg/week (and < 25 mg/week) of MTX for at least
- 457 4 weeks prior to screening and have at least 4 swollen and 4 tender joints and C-reactive protein (CRP)
- 458 ≥ 1.5 mg/dL at screening.
- 459 In clinical studies with MTX-failure patients it is recommended to exclude MTX-intolerant subjects.
- 460 Similar principles would apply to other DMARDs.
- 461 One of the confirmatory studies should be a 3-arm trial which compares the test product with an
- appropriate and established comparator and placebo. In case add-on to MTX is planned, MTX has to be
- added in each arm. Non-inferiority to the active control could be an acceptable goal for products that
- have additional advantages over the standard anti-TNF comparator such as improved tolerability and
- better safety prolife in phase III trials. If further safety data is available from other populations,
- particularly RA patients, demonstrating less safety concerns than anti-TNFs, then this will also support
- acceptance of a non-inferiority trial. Low disease activity may be the primary endpoint.
- 468

484

485

- There are several effective treatment options available for MTX-failure patients, such as TNF-inhibitors,
- 470 with a more rapid onset of action. Therefore, the placebo-period should be limited to 3 months. After 3
- 471 months (imaging at this time point should be considered), the placebo comparator arm should be
- switched to, or receive as add-on, another DMARD or a targeted biologic (e.g. a TNF inhibitor) in order
- 473 to continue evaluation of the test drug's comparative safety and maintenance of efficacy long-term. For
- 474 assessment of disease activity, a minimum duration of 3 months is considered appropriate; follow-up
- for at least up to 1 year will be required for showing maintenance of effect and safety.
- 476 In addition to the confirmatory 3-arm trial as proposed above a two-arm study comparing the test
- drug with an established active comparator is recommended. Low disease activity may serve as the
- 478 primary endpoint. Non-inferiority to the active control could be an acceptable goal with the caveats
- 479 noted above. For assessment of disease activity, a minimum duration of at least 6 months is
- 480 considered appropriate; follow-up for at least up to 1 year (preferably blinding maintained) will be
- 481 required for showing maintenance of effect and safety.
- 482 Structural damage should be assessed at 12 months but in some cases 6 months may be sufficient. An
- additional 12 months to demonstrate maintenance of efficacy is required.

5.4.5. Third-line indication

Anti-TNF-failure or anti-TNF-intolerant patients

- 486 RA patients who respond insufficiently to anti-TNF treatment belong to a group with active progressive
- 487 course of disease despite intensive treatment and have limited treatment options. The response on the
- test drug might therefore be of less magnitude than expected for first and second line indication.
- 489 RA patients should have demonstrated an inadequate efficacy response to one and/or more anti-TNF
- 490 inhibitors after being treated for at least 3 months.
- 491 For new agents a randomized, blinded study is required.
- 492 For new agents recommended options are:
- a 2-arm study comparing the test drug + MTX with the prior anti-TNF + MTX unchanged (superiority) upon enrolment into the study.
- a 2-arm study comparing the test drug + MTX with MTX + placebo (superiority) for anti-TNFintolerant patients only.
- Non-inferiority of new agent + MTX versus established comparator in 3rd line + MTX

- 499 For <u>superiority trials</u> (see above) the test drug would need to demonstrate superior efficacy (disease
- activity) to the placebo/prior therapy comparator. A minimum duration of 3 months for the placebo-
- 501 controlled phase is considered appropriate. After 3 months, the placebo + MTX or prior anti-TNF + MTX
- 502 comparator arm should be switched (with blinding maintained) to a comparator established in 3rd line
- + MTX in order to continue evaluation of the test drug's comparative safety and maintenance of
- efficacy. Structural damage should be assessed at 6 months.

505

- 506 <u>Non-inferiority trials</u> (see above): Non-inferiority to the active control (comparator established in 3rd
- 507 line + MTX) is an acceptable goal. For assessment of disease activity, a minimum duration of at least 6
- 508 months for the blinded phase is considered appropriate. Structural damage should also be assessed at
- 509 6 months.

510

514

- 511 Low disease activity or at least clinically relevant improvement may be the primary endpoint.
- For both study designs 6-months blinded controlled phases seem acceptable in this advanced disease
- 513 state.

5.4.6. Comparators/concomitant interventions

- Active comparator studies are preferred, taking the number of established and approved therapies in
- this disease into account. The need for and the appropriate choice of an active comparator is
- 517 determined by the intended therapeutic position of the product or the population to be treated. Since
- 518 there are several different classes of new agents with different specific modes of action, the
- appropriateness of the chosen active comparator should be justified. A demonstration of the superiority
- of the test drug to an appropriate comparator in at least one study is more persuasive of its efficacy
- 521 than a demonstration of equivalence or non-inferiority.
- 522 Treatment with combinations is increasingly used in patients who have failed monotherapy. A
- 523 pharmacological rationale should be presented and the choice of doses justified. Claims of additive or
- 524 synergistic efficacy would need to be supported by specific efficacy data using the proposed
- 525 combination.

- A placebo arm of short duration reinforces the robustness of the study. However, the use of placebo-
- only trials should be restricted to products for which this comparison is strictly necessary for a
- 528 meaningful outcome. The placebo control group should be rescued. It is recommended to provide
- 529 predefined escape rules to provide rescue therapy for non-responding patients; those patients
- 530 demonstrating response could continue therapy unchanged.
- 531 Rescue treatment should be standardised, monitored and carefully recorded for each individual patient.
- The time points of endpoint assessment should be appropriately chosen to avoid confounding the
- 533 effects of the rescue medication.

5.4.7. Duration of clinical trials

- The required duration of clinical trials depends largely on the chosen endpoint, the sensitivity of
- applied and accepted assessment methods, and the characteristics of the agent and the magnitude of
- its effects as well as the disease characteristics of the patients (see also 5.4.3 5.4.5).
- Generally, the chosen duration depends on the mode of action of the product and should be justified; it
- 539 should be of sufficient time to allow a meaningful comparison of the effect and to obtain a clear
- 540 outcome.

534

541

542

6. Clinical safety evaluation

6.1. Specific adverse events to be monitored

- Prior to licensing the safety database should be sufficient to characterise the safety profile of the
- 544 medicinal product. A sufficiently robust and extensive safety database is required particularly for early
- 545 disease stages.
- The analyses of safety data should particularly focus on specific adverse effects related to the mode of
- action or risks known for the specific substance class (e.g. for TNF-alpha blocker: increased infectious
- risk, malignancies, infusion reactions). Some of these specific adverse effects might occur after drug
- discontinuation and should be evaluated and documented for an appropriate period post study.
- As cardiovascular safety problems are common in RA patients, this should be specifically monitored.
- In order to show that the medicinal product has no deleterious effects on the joints, evidence should
- be provided that structural damage is not accelerated.
- It is important to realise that because of the nature of the disease, normally characterised by life-long
- 554 progression and because of long-lasting medical treatment with highly active options to treat RA,
- adverse drug reactions must be detected as early as possible and signals be identified with high
- sensitivity. With drug substances severely affecting important physiologic organ functions, the early
- detection of the comprehensive adverse reaction profile for any newly introduced drug substance and
- especially any newly introduced therapeutic class presents a considerable challenge. Therefore it is
- 559 clearly required that the general principles to achieve this are applied and efficiently introduced to the
- development of any new drug product to treat RA. In addition, clinical trials should evaluate immune
- 561 system function, e.g. serum immunoglobulins and lymphocyte subsets, as well as assessing
- immunogenicity for biologicals in order to better characterize the long-term safety consequences of
- any adverse findings.
- To assess clinical safety and identify relevant adverse reactions an observation period of not less than
- 565 12 months is required. Taking into consideration the chronicity of the disease, and the need for long-
- term treatment, longer periods may be more appropriate.

Intra-articularly applied medicinal products should prove local tolerability by means of data from clinical efficacy trials. Systemic risks should be assessed based on the residence time in the treated joint and on data for systemic availability. For clinical safety reasons (e.g. anticipation of deleterious effect on the joints) it may be advisable to perform radiograph examinations.

6.2. Extent of population exposure to assess clinical safety

- 572 The safety database to be submitted for assessing a new product should be sufficiently large taking
- 573 into consideration the mechanism of action, safety profile and co-morbidities of the patients. If RA is
- an additional indication for an already approved product, safety data obtained in other populations can
- 575 be considered, provided the dosage regimen is the same and the population is expected to behave
- 576 similarly.

571

- 577 Considering the characteristics of the patient population sufficient data should be generated in geriatric
- 578 patients. Available data should be reported separately for patients aged 65-74, 75-85 and 85 and
- 579 older.

585

590

- 580 For substance groups for which specific serious drug-related risks are known a larger safety population
- may be needed.
- 582 For further identification of rare adverse events associated with new therapies, intensive safety
- 583 evaluation during randomised trials may be considered supportive, and emphasis should be placed on
- post-marketing surveillance and use of registries.

6.3. Extent of population exposure to assess clinical safety

- 586 RA is a chronic disease and most of the systemic and intra-articular drugs will need to be approved for
- long-term treatment or chronic repeated use. Thus, safety assessment should be consistent with
- 588 standard CHMP requirements for safety data on long-term treatments. Detailed RMP's will need to be
- drawn up tailored to the likely risks and knowledge of the product.

591 References

- 1. A proposed revision to the ACR20: the hybrid measure of American College of Rheumatology response. Arthritis Rheum 2007; 57(2):193-202.
- 2. Aletaha D, Smolen JS. Threats to validity of observational studies on disease-modifying antirheumatic drug therapies for rheumatoid arthritis: new aspects after the fall of the pyramid and the rise of new therapeutics. Curr Rheumatol Rep 2003; 5(6):409-412.
- 3. Aletaha D, Smolen JS. DMARD use in early rheumatoid arthritis. Lessons from observations in patients with established disease. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2003; 21(5 Suppl 31):S169-S173.
- 4. Aletaha D, Eberl G, Nell VP, Machold KP, Smolen JS. Attitudes to early rheumatoid arthritis: changing patterns. Results of a survey. Ann Rheum Dis 2004; 63(10):1269-1275.
- 5. Aletaha D, Nell VP, Stamm T, Uffmann M, Pflugbeil S, Machold K et al. Acute phase reactants add little to composite disease activity indices for rheumatoid arthritis: validation of a clinical activity score. Arthritis Res Ther 2005; 7(4):R796-R806.
- 604 6. Aletaha D, Smolen J. The Simplified Disease Activity Index (SDAI) and the Clinical Disease Activity Index (CDAI): a review of their usefulness and validity in rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2005; 23(5 Suppl 39):S100-S108.
- 7. Aletaha D, Ward MM, Machold KP, Nell VP, Stamm T, Smolen JS. Remission and active disease in rheumatoid arthritis: defining criteria for disease activity states. Arthritis Rheum 2005; 52(9):2625-2636.
- 8. Aletaha D, Breedveld FC, Smolen JS. The need for new classification criteria for rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2005; 52(11):3333-3336.
- 9. Aletaha D, Ward MM. Duration of rheumatoid arthritis influences the degree of functional improvement in clinical trials. Ann Rheum Dis 2006; 65(2):227-233.
- 10. Aletaha D. Pooled indices to measure rheumatoid arthritis activity: a good reflection of the physician's mind? Arthritis Res Ther 2006; 8(1):102.
- 11. Aletaha D, Smolen J, Ward MM. Measuring function in rheumatoid arthritis: Identifying reversible and irreversible components. Arthritis Rheum 2006; 54(9):2784-2792.
- 12. Aletaha D, Smolen JS. Remission of rheumatoid arthritis: should we care about definitions? Clin Exp Rheumatol 2006; 24(6 Suppl 43):S-51.
- 13. Aletaha D, Smolen JS. The definition and measurement of disease modification in inflammatory rheumatic diseases. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 2006; 32(1):9-44, vii.
- 14. Aletaha D, Funovits J, Keystone EC, Smolen JS. Disease activity early in the course of treatment predicts response to therapy after one year in rheumatoid arthritis patients. Arthritis Rheum 2007; 56(10):3226-3235.
- 15. Aletaha D, Smolen JS. The Simplified Disease Activity Index (SDAI) and Clinical Disease Activity
 Index (CDAI) to monitor patients in standard clinical care. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2007;
 21(4):663-675.
- 16. Aletaha D, Landewe R, Karonitsch T, Bathon J, Boers M, Bombardier C et al. Reporting disease activity in clinical trials of patients with rheumatoid arthritis: EULAR/ACR collaborative recommendations. Ann Rheum Dis 2008; 67(10):1360-1364.
- 17. Aletaha D, Funovits J, Smolen JS. The importance of reporting disease activity states in rheumatoid arthritis clinical trials. Arthritis Rheum 2008; 58(9):2622-2631.

- 633 18. Aletaha D. Strand V. Smolen JS. Ward MM. Treatment-related improvement in physical function 634 varies with duration of rheumatoid arthritis: a pooled analysis of clinical trial results. Ann Rheum 635 Dis 2008; 67(2):238-243.
- 19. Aletaha D, Huizinga TW. The use of data from early arthritis clinics for clinical research. Best Pract 636 637 Res Clin Rheumatol 2009; 23(1):117-123.
- 20. Aletaha D, Funovits J, Breedveld FC, Sharp J, Segurado O, Smolen JS. Rheumatoid arthritis joint 638 progression in sustained remission is determined by disease activity levels preceding the period of 639 640 radiographic assessment. Arthritis Rheum 2009; 60(5):1242-1249.
- 641 21. Aletaha D, Funovits J, Ward MM, Smolen JS, Kvien TK. Perception of improvement in patients with 642 rheumatoid arthritis varies with disease activity levels at baseline. Arthritis Rheum 2009; 643 61(3):313-320.
- 644 22. Bakker MF, Jacobs JW, Verstappen SM, Bijlsma JW. Tight control in the treatment of rheumatoid 645 arthritis: efficacy and feasibility. Ann Rheum Dis 2007; 66 Suppl 3:iii56-iii60.
- 646 23. Bijlsma JW, Boers M, Saag KG, Furst DE. Glucocorticoids in the treatment of early and late RA. Ann Rheum Dis 2003; 62(11):1033-1037. 647
- 648 24. Boers M, Ramsden M. Long acting drug combinations in rheumatoid arthritis: a formal overview. J 649 Rheumatol 1991; 18(3):316-324.
- 25. Boers M, Guyatt GH, Oxman AD. Combined effect size: comment on the metaanalysis of second-650 651 line drugs in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1991; 34(10):1342-1343.
- 652 26. Boers M. Low-dose prednisone in rheumatoid arthritis patients: placebo treatment? Arthritis Rheum 653 1991; 34(4):501-502.
- 27. Boers M, Tugwell P. The validity of pooled outcome measures (indices) in rheumatoid arthritis 654 clinical trials. J Rheumatol 1993; 20(3):568-574. 655
- 656 28. Boers M. International consensus on which measures to use in rheumatoid arthritis clinical trials. Neth J Med 1993; 43(1-2):55-58. 657
- 29. Boers M, Tugwell P, Felson DT, van Riel PL, Kirwan JR, Edmonds JP et al. World Health 658 Organization and International League of Associations for Rheumatology core endpoints for 659 660 symptom modifying antirheumatic drugs in rheumatoid arthritis clinical trials. J Rheumatol Suppl 1994; 41:86-89. 661
- 30. Boers M, Felson DT. Clinical measures in rheumatoid arthritis: which are most useful in assessing 662 patients? J Rheumatol 1994; 21(9):1773-1774. 663
- 31. Boers M, van Riel PL, Felson DT, Tugwell P. Assessing the activity of rheumatoid arthritis. Baillieres 664 Clin Rheumatol 1995; 9(2):305-317. 665
- 666 32. Boers M. The validity of radiography as outcome measure in rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 667 1995; 22(9):1783-1786.
- 33. Boers M, Verhoeven AC, van der LS. [Combination therapy in early rheumatoid arthritis: the 668 COBRA study]. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 1997; 141(50):2428-2432. 669
- 670 34. Boers M, Verhoeven AC, Markusse HM, Van de Laar MA, Westhovens R, Van Denderen JC et al. Randomised comparison of combined step-down prednisolone, methotrexate and sulphasalazine 671 with sulphasalazine alone in early rheumatoid arthritis. Lancet 1997; 350(9074):309-318. 672
- 35. Boers M, Brooks P, Strand CV, Tugwell P. The OMERACT filter for Outcome Measures in 673 Rheumatology. J Rheumatol 1998; 25(2):198-199. 674
- 675 36. Boers M. Combination therapy in rheumatoid arthritis. Lancet 1999; 354(9182):952.

- 37. Boers M. Demonstration of response in rheumatoid arthritis patients who are nonresponders according to the American College of Rheumatology 20% criteria: the paradox of beneficial treatment effects in nonresponders in the ATTRACT trial. Anti-Tumor Necrosis Factor Trial in
- Rheumatoid Arthritis with Concomitant Therapy. Arthritis Rheum 2001; 44(11):2703-2704.
- 38. Boers M. Rheumatoid arthritis. Treatment of early disease. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 2001; 27(2):405-14, x.
- 39. Boers M, Kostense PJ, Verhoeven AC, van der LS. Inflammation and damage in an individual joint predict further damage in that joint in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2001; 44(10):2242-2246.
- 40. Boers M, Verhoeven AC, van der LS. American College of Rheumatology criteria for improvement in rheumatoid arthritis should only be calculated from scores that decrease on improvement. Arthritis Rheum 2001; 44(5):1052-1055.
- 41. Boers M. Combination treatment in autoimmune diseases. Methodology of combination trials. Springer Semin Immunopathol 2001; 23(1-2):27-33.
- 42. Boers M, van der Heijde DM. Prevention or retardation of joint damage in rheumatoid arthritis:
 issues of definition, evaluation and interpretation of plain radiographs. Drugs 2002; 62(12):1717 1724.
- 43. Boers M. Understanding the window of opportunity concept in early rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2003; 48(7):1771-1774.
- 44. Boers M, Anderson JJ, Felson DT. Deriving an operational definition of low disease activity state in rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 2003; 30(5):1112-1114.
- 45. Boers M, Nurmohamed MT, Doelman CJ, Lard LR, Verhoeven AC, Voskuyl AE et al. Influence of glucocorticoids and disease activity on total and high density lipoprotein cholesterol in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 2003; 62(9):842-845.
- 46. Boers M. Add-on or step-up trials for new drug development in rheumatoid arthritis: a new standard? Arthritis Rheum 2003; 48(6):1481-1483.
- 47. Boers M. Evidence for interaction between disease severity and comorbidity in rheumatoid arthritis? comment on the article by Navarro-Cano et al. Arthritis Rheum 2004; 50(5):1695-1697.
- 48. Boers M. Use of the American College of Rheumatology N (ACR-N) index of improvement in rheumatoid arthritis: argument in opposition. Arthritis Rheum 2005; 52(6):1642-1645.
- 49. Boers M, Brooks P, Simon LS, Strand V, Tugwell P. OMERACT: an international initiative to improve outcome measurement in rheumatology. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2005; 23(5 Suppl 39):S10-S13.
- 50. Boers M. COBRA combination therapy in daily practice--getting back to the future. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2008; 47(1):1-2.
- 51. Boers M. A call for pragmatic treatment trials in rheumatoid arthritis. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol 2008; 4(6):292-293.
- 52. Boers M. Missing data in trials: do we have to keep carrying the last observation forward? Arthritis Rheum 2008; 59(1):2-3.
- 53. Boers M. The time has come to limit the placebo period in rheumatoid arthritis trials to 3 months:
 A systematic comparison of 3- and 6-month response rates in trials of biologic agents. Ann Rheum
- 716 Dis 2009: published online 22 Sept 2009.
- 54. Boers M. A new design for registration trials in rheumatoid arthritis allowing secondary head-tohead comparisons with standard of care treatment including biologics. Ann Rheum Dis 2009: in press.

- 55. Braun J, Sieper J, van der Heijde D. Definition of discontinuation of anti-tumour necrosis factor therapy in rheumatoid arthritis: a preliminary proposal. Ann Rheum Dis 2003; 62(10):1023-1024.
- 56. Breedveld FC, Han C, Bala M, van der Heijde D, Baker D, Kavanaugh AF et al. Association between baseline radiographic damage and improvement in physical function after treatment of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 2005; 64(1):52-55.
- 57. Breedveld FC, Weisman MH, Kavanaugh AF, Cohen SB, Pavelka K, van Vollenhoven R, Sharp J,
 Perez JL, Spencer-Green GT. The PREMIER study: A multicenter, randomized, double-blind clinical
 trial of combination therapy with adalimumab plus methotrexate versus methotrexate alone or
 adalimumab alone in patients with early, aggressive rheumatoid arthritis who had not had previous
 methotrexate treatment. Arthritis Rheum. 2006;54(1):26-37.
- 58. Bruynesteyn K, van der Heijde D, Boers M, Lassere M, Boonen A, Edmonds J et al. Minimal clinically important difference in radiological progression of joint damage over 1 year in rheumatoid arthritis: preliminary results of a validation study with clinical experts. J Rheumatol 2001; 28(4):904-910.
- 59. Bruynesteyn K, van der Heijde D, Boers M, Saudan A, Peloso P, Paulus H et al. Determination of the minimal clinically important difference in rheumatoid arthritis joint damage of the Sharp/van der Heijde and Larsen/Scott scoring methods by clinical experts and comparison with the smallest detectable difference. Arthritis Rheum 2002; 46(4):913-920.
- 60. Bruynesteyn K, van der Heijde D, Boers M, Saudan A, Peloso P, Paulus H et al. Detecting radiological changes in rheumatoid arthritis that are considered important by clinical experts: influence of reading with or without known sequence. J Rheumatol 2002; 29(11):2306-2312.
- 741 61. Bruynesteyn K, van der Heijde D, Boers M, Verhoeven A, Boonen A, van der LS. Contribution of progression of erosive damage in previously eroded joints in early rheumatoid arthritis trials: COBRA trial as an example. Arthritis Rheum 2002; 47(5):532-536.
- 62. Bruynesteyn K, van der Heijde D, Boers M, van der LS, Lassere M, van d, V. The Sharp/van der Heijde method out-performed the Larsen/Scott method on the individual patient level in assessing radiographs in early rheumatoid arthritis. J Clin Epidemiol 2004; 57(5):502-512.
- 63. Bruynesteyn K, Landewe R, van der LS, van der Heijde D. Radiography as primary outcome in rheumatoid arthritis: acceptable sample sizes for trials with 3 months' follow up. Ann Rheum Dis 2004; 63(11):1413-1418.
- 64. Bruynesteyn K, Boers M, Kostense P, van der LS, van der Heijde D. Deciding on progression of joint damage in paired films of individual patients: smallest detectable difference or change. Ann Rheum Dis 2005; 64(2):179-182.
- 65. Calguneri M, Pay S, Caliskaner Z, Apras S, Kiraz S, Ertenli I et al. Combination therapy versus monotherapy for the treatment of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol 1999; 17(6):699-704.
- 756 66. Combe B, Landewe R, Lukas C, Bolosiu HD, Breedveld F, Dougados M et al. EULAR 757 recommendations for the management of early arthritis: report of a task force of the European 758 Standing Committee for International Clinical Studies Including Therapeutics (ESCISIT). Ann 759 Rheum Dis 2007; 66(1):34-45.
- 760 67. Dougados M, Aletaha D, van Riel P. Disease activity measures for rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Exp 761 Rheumatol 2007; 25(5 Suppl 46):S22-S29.
- 762 68. Dougados M, Schmidely N, Le Bars M, Lafosse C, Schiff M, Smolen JS et al. Evaluation of different
 763 methods used to assess disease activity in rheumatoid arthritis: analyses of abatacept clinical trial
 764 data. Ann Rheum Dis 2009; 68(4):484-489.
- 69. Emery P, Breedveld FC, Hall S, Durez P, Chang DJ, Robertson D et al. Comparison of methotrexate monotherapy with a combination of methotrexate and etanercept in active, early, moderate to

- 767 severe rheumatoid arthritis (COMET): a randomised, double-blind, parallel treatment trial. Lancet 2008; 372(9636):375-382.
- 769 70. Emery P, McInnes IB, van Vollenhoven R, Kraan MC. Clinical identification and treatment of a rapidly progressing disease state in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2008; 47(4):392-398.
- 71. Fautrel B, Pham T, Mouterde G, Le L, X, Goupille P, Guillemin F et al. Recommendations of the French Society for Rheumatology regarding TNFalpha antagonist therapy in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Joint Bone Spine 2007; 74(6):627-637.
- 72. Fautrel B, Guillemin F, Meyer O, de Bandt M, Berthelot JM, Flipo RM et al. Choice of second-line disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs after failure of methotrexate therapy for rheumatoid arthritis: a decision tree for clinical practice based on rheumatologists' preferences. Arthritis Rheum 2009; 61(4):425-434.
- 73. Felson DT, Anderson JJ, Boers M, Bombardier C, Chernoff M, Fried B et al. The American College of Rheumatology preliminary core set of disease activity measures for rheumatoid arthritis clinical trials. The Committee on Outcome Measures in Rheumatoid Arthritis Clinical Trials. Arthritis Rheum 1993; 36(6):729-740.
- 74. Felson DT, Anderson JJ, Boers M, Bombardier C, Furst D, Goldsmith C et al. American College of Rheumatology. Preliminary definition of improvement in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1995; 38(6):727-735.
- 75. Felson DT, Furst DE, Boers M. Rationale and strategies for reevaluating the ACR20. J Rheumatol 2007; 34(5):1184-1187.
- 76. Felson DT, Smolen JS et al American College of Rheumatology/European League Against Rheumatism Provisional Definition of Remission in Rheumatoid Arthritis for Clinical Trials. ARTHRITIS & RHEUMATISM Vol. 63, No. 3, March 2011, pp 573–586
- 77. Ferraccioli GF, Gremese E, Tomietto P, Favret G, Damato R, Di Poi E. Analysis of improvements, full responses, remission and toxicity in rheumatoid patients treated with step-up combination therapy (methotrexate, cyclosporin A, sulphasalazine) or monotherapy for three years. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2002; 41(8):892-898.
- 78. Furst DE, Schiff MH, Fleischmann RM, Strand V, Birbara CA, Compagnone D, Fischkoff SA,
 Chartash EK. Adalimumab, a fully human anti tumor necrosis factor-alpha monoclonal antibody,
 and concomitant standard antirheumatic therapy for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis: results
 of STAR (Safety Trial of Adalimumab in Rheumatoid Arthritis). J Rheumatol. 2003;30(12):25632571.
- 79. Garnero P, Landewe R, Boers M, Verhoeven A, van der LS, Christgau S et al. Association of baseline levels of markers of bone and cartilage degradation with long-term progression of joint damage in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis: the COBRA study. Arthritis Rheum 2002; 46(11):2847-2856.
- 804 80. Genovese MC, Bathon JM, Martin RW, Fleischmann RM, Tesser JR, Schiff MH et al. Etanercept 805 versus methotrexate in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis: two-year radiographic and clinical 806 outcomes. Arthritis Rheum 2002; 46(6):1443-1450.
- 81. Genovese MC, Cohen S, Moreland L, Lium D, Robbins S, Newmark R et al. Combination therapy with etanercept and anakinra in the treatment of patients with rheumatoid arthritis who have been treated unsuccessfully with methotrexate. Arthritis Rheum 2004; 50(5):1412-1419.
- 82. Giles JT, Mease P, Boers M, Bresnihan B, Conaghan PG, Heald A et al. Assessing single joints in arthritis clinical trials. J Rheumatol 2007; 34(3):641-647.
- 83. Goekoop-Ruiterman YP, Vries-Bouwstra JK, Allaart CF, van Zeben D, Kerstens PJ, Hazes JM et al.
 Clinical and radiographic outcomes of four different treatment strategies in patients with early

- rheumatoid arthritis (the BeSt study): A randomized, controlled trial. Arthritis Rheum 2008; 58(2 Suppl):S126-S135.
- 84. Grigor C, Capell H, Stirling A, McMahon AD, Lock P, Vallance R et al. Effect of a treatment strategy of tight control for rheumatoid arthritis (the TICORA study): a single-blind randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2004; 364(9430):263-269.
- 85. Gulfe A, Aletaha D, Saxne T, Geborek P. Disease activity level, remission and response in established rheumatoid arthritis: performance of various criteria sets in an observational cohort, treated with anti-TNF agents. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2009; 10:41.
- 822 86. Hafstrom I, Albertsson K, Boonen A, van der Heijde D, Landewe R, Svensson B. Remission 823 achieved after 2 years treatment with low-dose prednisolone in addition to disease-modifying anti-824 rheumatic drugs in early rheumatoid arthritis is associated with reduced joint destruction still 825 present after 4 years: an open 2-year continuation study. Ann Rheum Dis 2009; 68(4):508-513.
- 87. Heiberg T, Kvien TK, Mowinckel P, Aletaha D, Smolen JS, Hagen KB. Identification of disease activity and health status cut-off points for the symptom state acceptable to patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 2008; 67(7):967-971.
- 829 88. Hoes JN, Jacobs JW, Boers M, Boumpas D, Buttgereit F, Caeyers N et al. EULAR evidence-based 830 recommendations on the management of systemic glucocorticoid therapy in rheumatic diseases. 831 Ann Rheum Dis 2007; 66(12):1560-1567.
- 89. Kapral T, Stamm T, Machold KP, Montag K, Smolen JS, Aletaha D. Methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis is frequently effective, even if re-employed after a previous failure. Arthritis Res Ther 2006; 8(2):R46.
- 835
 90. Kapral T, Dernoschnig F, Machold KP, Stamm T, Schoels M, Smolen JS et al. Remission by
 836 composite scores in rheumatoid arthritis: are ankles and feet important? Arthritis Res Ther 2007;
 837
 9(4):R72.
- 91. Karonitsch T, Aletaha D, Boers M, Bombardieri S, Combe B, Dougados M et al. Methods of deriving EULAR/ACR recommendations on reporting disease activity in clinical trials of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 2008; 67(10):1365-1373.
- 92. Kavanaugh A, Klareskog L, van der Heijde D, Li J, Freundlich B, Hooper M. Improvements in clinical response between 12 and 24 weeks in patients with rheumatoid arthritis on etanercept therapy with or without methotrexate. Ann Rheum Dis 2008; 67(10):1444-1447.
- 93. Kavanaugh A. Therapy: Guidelines in rheumatology: quo vadis? Nat Rev Rheumatol 2009; 5(8):423-424.
- 94. Kay J, Westhovens R. Methotrexate: the gold standard without standardisation. Ann Rheum Dis 2009; 68(7):1081-1082.
- 95. Korpela M, Laasonen L, Hannonen P, Kautiainen H, Leirisalo-Repo M, Hakala M et al. Retardation of joint damage in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis by initial aggressive treatment with disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs: five-year experience from the FIN-RACo study. Arthritis Rheum 2004; 50(7):2072-2081.
- 852 96. Landewe R, van der Heijde D. Presentation and analysis of radiographic data in clinical trials and observational studies. Ann Rheum Dis 2005; 64 Suppl 4:iv48-iv51.
- 97. Landewe RB, Boers M, Verhoeven AC, Westhovens R, Van de Laar MA, Markusse HM et al. COBRA combination therapy in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis: long-term structural benefits of a brief intervention. Arthritis Rheum 2002; 46(2):347-356.
- 98. Landewe RB, Boers M, van der Heijde DM. How to interpret radiological progression in randomized clinical trials? Rheumatology (Oxford) 2003; 42(1):2-5.

- 99. Machold KP, Nell V, Stamm T, Aletaha D, Smolen JS. Early rheumatoid arthritis. Curr Opin Rheumatol 2006; 18(3):282-288.
- Machold KP, Stamm TA, Nell VP, Pflugbeil S, Aletaha D, Steiner G et al. Very recent onset rheumatoid arthritis: clinical and serological patient characteristics associated with radiographic progression over the first years of disease. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2007; 46(2):342-349.
- Makinen H, Kautiainen H, Hannonen P, Sokka T. Is DAS28 an appropriate tool to assess remission in rheumatoid arthritis? Ann Rheum Dis 2005; 64(10):1410-1413.
- Mierau M, Schoels M, Gonda G, Fuchs J, Aletaha D, Smolen JS. Assessing remission in clinical practice. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2007; 46(6):975-979.
- 868 103. Mottonen T, Hannonen P, Leirisalo-Repo M, Nissila M, Kautiainen H, Korpela M et al.
 869 Comparison of combination therapy with single-drug therapy in early rheumatoid arthritis: a
 870 randomised trial. FIN-RACo trial group. Lancet 1999; 353(9164):1568-1573.
- 104. O'Dell JR, Haire CE, Erikson N, Drymalski W, Palmer W, Eckhoff PJ et al. Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with methotrexate alone, sulfasalazine and hydroxychloroquine, or a combination of all three medications. N Engl J Med 1996; 334(20):1287-1291.
- 874 105. O'Dell JR, Leff R, Paulsen G, Haire C, Mallek J, Eckhoff PJ et al. Treatment of rheumatoid 875 arthritis with methotrexate and hydroxychloroquine, methotrexate and sulfasalazine, or a 876 combination of the three medications: results of a two-year, randomized, double-blind, placebo-877 controlled trial. Arthritis Rheum 2002; 46(5):1164-1170.
- 106. Pham B, Cranney A, Boers M, Verhoeven AC, Wells G, Tugwell P. Validity of area-under-thecurve analysis to summarize effect in rheumatoid arthritis clinical trials. J Rheumatol 1999; 26(3):712-716.
- 107. Pincus T, Kavanaugh A, Aletaha D, Smolen J. Complexities in defining remission in rheumatic diseases. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2006; 24(6 Suppl 43):S-6.
- 108. Puolakka K, Kautiainen H, Mottonen T, Hannonen P, Korpela M, Julkunen H et al. Impact of initial aggressive drug treatment with a combination of disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs on the development of work disability in early rheumatoid arthritis: a five-year randomized followup trial. Arthritis Rheum 2004; 50(1):55-62.
- 887 109. Puolakka K, Kautiainen H, Mottonen T, Hannonen P, Korpela M, Hakala M et al. Early
 888 suppression of disease activity is essential for maintenance of work capacity in patients with
 889 recent-onset rheumatoid arthritis: five-year experience from the FIN-RACo trial. Arthritis Rheum
 890 2005; 52(1):36-41.
- 891 110. Saag KG, Teng GG, Patkar NM, Anuntiyo J, Finney C, Curtis JR et al. American College of 892 Rheumatology 2008 recommendations for the use of nonbiologic and biologic disease-modifying 893 antirheumatic drugs in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2008; 59(6):762-784.
- 894 111. Saleem B, Mackie S, Quinn M, Nizam S, Hensor E, Jarrett S et al. Does the use of tumour 895 necrosis factor antagonist therapy in poor prognosis, undifferentiated arthritis prevent progression 896 to rheumatoid arthritis? Ann Rheum Dis 2008; 67(8):1178-1180.
- Schoels M, Kapral T, Stamm T, Smolen JS, Aletaha D. Step-up combination versus switching of non-biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs in rheumatoid arthritis: results from a retrospective observational study. Ann Rheum Dis 2007; 66(8):1059-1065.
- 900 113. Smolen J, Landewe RB, Mease P, Brzezicki J, Mason D, Luijtens K et al. Efficacy and safety of certolizumab pegol plus methotrexate in active rheumatoid arthritis: the RAPID 2 study. A randomised controlled trial. Ann Rheum Dis 2009; 68(6):797-804.
- 903 114. Smolen JS, Emery P. Efficacy and safety of leflunomide in active rheumatoid arthritis. 904 Rheumatology (Oxford) 2000; 39 Suppl 1:48-56.

- 905 115. Smolen JS, Breedveld FC, Schiff MH, Kalden JR, Emery P, Eberl G et al. A simplified disease activity index for rheumatoid arthritis for use in clinical practice. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2003; 42(2):244-257.
- 908 116. Smolen JS, Aletaha D, Machold KP. Therapeutic strategies in early rheumatoid arthritis. Best 909 Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2005; 19(1):163-177.
- 910 117. Smolen JS, Aletaha D, Keystone E. Superior efficacy of combination therapy for rheumatoid arthritis: fact or fiction? Arthritis Rheum 2005; 52(10):2975-2983.
- 912 118. Smolen JS, Aletaha D, Koeller M, Weisman MH, Emery P. New therapies for treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Lancet 2007; 370(9602):1861-1874.
- 914 119. Smolen JS, Aletaha D. Activity assessments in rheumatoid arthritis. Curr Opin Rheumatol 2008; 20(3):306-313.
- 916 120. Smolen JS, Aletaha D. Strengths and limitations of a systematic review on DMARDs for rheumatoid arthritis. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol 2008; 4(6):296-297.
- 918 121. Smolen JS, Aletaha D, Grisar J, Redlich K, Steiner G, Wagner O. The need for prognosticators 919 in rheumatoid arthritis. Biological and clinical markers: where are we now? Arthritis Res Ther 2008; 920 10(3):208.
- 921 122. Smolen JS, Aletaha D, Grisar JC, Stamm TA, Sharp JT. Estimation of a numerical value for joint damage-related physical disability in rheumatoid arthritis clinical trials. Ann Rheum Dis 2009.
- 923 123. Smolen JS, Han C, van der Heijde DM, Emery P, Bathon JM, Keystone E et al. Radiographic 924 changes in rheumatoid arthritis patients attaining different disease activity states with 925 methotrexate monotherapy and infliximab plus methotrexate: the impacts of remission and tumour 926 necrosis factor blockade. Ann Rheum Dis 2009; 68(6):823-827.
- 927 124. Smolen JS, Aletaha D, Steiner G. Does damage cause inflammation? Revisiting the link 928 between joint damage and inflammation. Ann Rheum Dis 2009; 68(2):159-162.
- 929 125. Smolen JS, Aletaha D, Grisar JC, Stamm TA, Sharp JT. Estimation of a numerical value for joint damage-related physical disability in rheumatoid arthritis clinical trials. Ann Rheum Dis 2009.
- 931 126. Soubrier M, Dougados M. How to assess early rheumatoid arthritis in daily clinical practice. 932 Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2005; 19(1):73-89.
- 933 127. Soubrier M, Dougados M. Selecting criteria for monitoring patients with rheumatoid arthritis. 934 Joint Bone Spine 2005; 72(2):129-134.
- 935 128. Soubrier M, Zerkak D, Gossec L, Ayral X, Roux C, Dougados M. Which variables best predict change in rheumatoid arthritis therapy in daily clinical practice? J Rheumatol 2006; 33(7):1243-1246.
- 938 129. Soubrier M, Puechal X, Sibilia J, Mariette X, Meyer O, Combe B et al. Evaluation of two 939 strategies (initial methotrexate monotherapy vs its combination with adalimumab) in management 940 of early active rheumatoid arthritis: data from the GUEPARD trial. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2009.
- 941 130. Suresh E, Lambert CM. Combination treatment strategies in early rheumatoid arthritis. Ann 942 Rheum Dis 2005; 64(9):1252-1256.
- 943 131. van der Bijl AE, Goekoop-Ruiterman YP, Vries-Bouwstra JK, Ten Wolde S, Han KH, van Krugten 944 MV et al. Infliximab and methotrexate as induction therapy in patients with early rheumatoid 945 arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2007; 56(7):2129-2134.
- 946 132. van der Helm-van Mil AH, le Cessie S, van Dongen H, Breedveld FC, Toes RE, Huizinga TW. A 947 prediction rule for disease outcome in patients with recent-onset undifferentiated arthritis: how to 948 quide individual treatment decisions. Arthritis Rheum 2007; 56(2):433-440.

- 949 van der Helm-van Mil AH, Detert J, le Cessie S, Filer A, Bastian H, Burmester GR et al. 950 Validation of a prediction rule for disease outcome in patients with recent-onset undifferentiated 951 arthritis: moving toward individualized treatment decision-making. Arthritis Rheum 2008;
- 952 58(8):2241-2247.
- van der Heijde D, Simon L, Smolen J, Strand V, Sharp J, Boers M et al. How to report 953 954 radiographic data in randomized clinical trials in rheumatoid arthritis; quidelines from a roundtable 955 discussion. Arthritis Rheum 2002; 47(2):215-218.
- van der Heijde D, Klareskog L, Boers M, Landewe R, Codreanu C, Bolosiu HD et al. Comparison 956 957 of different definitions to classify remission and sustained remission: 1 year TEMPO results. Ann 958 Rheum Dis 2005; 64(11):1582-1587.
- 959 van der Heijde D, Klareskog L, Singh A, Tornero J, Melo-Gomes J, Codreanu C et al. Patient 960 reported outcomes in a trial of combination therapy with etanercept and methotrexate for rheumatoid arthritis: the TEMPO trial. Ann Rheum Dis 2006; 65(3):328-334. 961
- 962 van der Heijde D, Burmester G, Melo-Gomes J, Codreanu C, Mola EM, Pedersen R et al. The 963 safety and efficacy of adding etanercept to methotrexate or methotrexate to etanercept in 964 moderately active rheumatoid arthritis patients previously treated with monotherapy. Ann Rheum 965 Dis 2008; 67(2):182-188.
- 966 138. van der Heijde D, Landewe R, van Vollenhoven R, Fatenejad S, Klareskog L. Level of 967 radiographic damage and radiographic progression are determinants of physical function: a 968 longitudinal analysis of the TEMPO trial. Ann Rheum Dis 2008; 67(9):1267-1270.
- 969 van der Heijde D, Burmester G, Melo-Gomes J, Codreanu C, Martin ME, Pedersen R et al. 970 Inhibition of radiographic progression with combination etanercept and methotrexate in patients 971 with moderately active rheumatoid arthritis previously treated with monotherapy. Ann Rheum Dis 972 2009; 68(7):1113-1118.
- 973 van der Heijde D, Klareskog L, Rodriguez-Valverde V, Codreanu C, Bolosiu H, Melo-Gomes J, 974 Tornero-Molina J, Wajdula J, Pedersen R, Fatenejad S; TEMPO Study Investigators. Comparison of 975 etanercept and methotrexate, alone and combined, in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis: twoyear clinical and radiographic results from the TEMPO study, a double-blind, randomized trial. 976 977 Arthritis Rheum. 2006;54(4):1063-1074.
- 978 van der Woude D, Young A, Jayakumar K, Mertens BJ, Toes RE, van der Heijde D et al. 979 Prevalence of and predictive factors for sustained disease-modifying antirheumatic drug-free remission in rheumatoid arthritis: results from two large early arthritis cohorts. Arthritis Rheum 980 981 2009; 60(8):2262-2271.
- 982 142. van Dongen H, van Aken J, Lard LR, Visser K, Ronday HK, Hulsmans HM et al. Efficacy of 983 methotrexate treatment in patients with probable rheumatoid arthritis: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Arthritis Rheum 2007; 56(5):1424-1432. 984
- 985 143. van Gestel AM, Anderson JJ, van Riel PL, Boers M, Haagsma CJ, Rich B et al. ACR and EULAR improvement criteria have comparable validity in rheumatoid arthritis trials. American College of 986 Rheumatology European League of Associations for Rheumatology, J Rheumatol 1999; 26(3):705-987 711. 988
- van Tuyl LH, Lems WF, Voskuyl AE, Kerstens PJ, Garnero P, Dijkmans BA et al. Tight control 989 990 and intensified COBRA combination treatment in early rheumatoid arthritis: 90% remission in a 991 pilot trial. Ann Rheum Dis 2008; 67(11):1574-1577.
- 992 van Tuyl LH, Plass AM, Lems WF, Voskuyl AE, Kerstens PJ, Dijkmans BA et al. Discordant perspectives of rheumatologists and patients on COBRA combination therapy in rheumatoid 993 994 arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2008; 47(10):1571-1576.
- 995 van Tuyl LH, Boers M, Lems WF, Landewe RB, Han H, van der LS et al. Survival, comorbidities 996 and joint damage 11 years after the COBRA combination therapy trial in early rheumatoid arthritis. 997 Ann Rheum Dis 2009.

- 998 147. van Tuyl LH, Vlad SC, Felson DT, Wells G, Boers M. Defining remission in rheumatoid arthritis: 999 results of an initial American College of Rheumatology/European League Against Rheumatism 1000 consensus conference. Arthritis Rheum 2009; 61(5):704-710.
- 1001 148. Visser H, Hazes JM, Luime J. The clinical relevance of a prediction rule for disease outcome in patients with undifferentiated arthritis: comment on the article by van der Helm-van Mil et al.

 1003 Arthritis Rheum 2009; 60(7):2208-2209.
- 1004 149. Visser K, Katchamart W, Loza E, Martinez-Lopez JA, Salliot C, Trudeau J et al. Multinational evidence-based recommendations for the use of methotrexate in rheumatic disorders with a focus on rheumatoid arthritis: integrating systematic literature research and expert opinion of a broad international panel of rheumatologists in the 3E Initiative. Ann Rheum Dis 2009; 68(7):1086-1093.
- 1008 150. Voskuyl AE, Boers M. Can progression of radiographic joint damage be predicted early in rheumatoid arthritis? J Rheumatol 2003; 30(5):905-907.
- 1010 151. Vries-Bouwstra JK, Goekoop-Ruiterman YP, Verpoort KN, Schreuder GM, Ewals JA, Terwiel JP
 1011 et al. Progression of joint damage in early rheumatoid arthritis: association with HLA-DRB1,
 1012 rheumatoid factor, and anti-citrullinated protein antibodies in relation to different treatment
 1013 strategies. Arthritis Rheum 2008; 58(5):1293-1298.
- 1014 152. Welch V, Singh G, Strand V, Fries J, Boers M, Ramey D et al. Patient based method of assessing adverse events in clinical trials in rheumatology: the revised Stanford Toxicity Index. J Rheumatol 2001; 28(5):1188-1191.
- 1017 153. Wells G, Becker JC, Teng J, Dougados M, Schiff M, Smolen J et al. Validation of the 28-joint
 1018 Disease Activity Score (DAS28) and European League Against Rheumatism response criteria based
 1019 on C-reactive protein against disease progression in patients with rheumatoid arthritis, and
 1020 comparison with the DAS28 based on erythrocyte sedimentation rate. Ann Rheum Dis 2009;
 1021 68(6):954-960.
- 1022 154. Wells GA, Boers M, Shea B, Brooks PM, Simon LS, Strand CV et al. Minimal disease activity for rheumatoid arthritis: a preliminary definition. J Rheumatol 2005; 32(10):2016-2024.
- 1024 155. Westhovens R, Robles M, Ximenes AC, Nayiager S, Wollenhaupt J, Durez P et al. Clinical efficacy and safety of abatacept in methotrexate-naive patients with early rheumatoid arthritis and poor prognostic factors. Ann Rheum Dis 2009.
- 1027 156. Wolfe F, Lassere M, van der Heijde D, Stucki G, Suarez-Almazor M, Pincus T et al. Preliminary core set of domains and reporting requirements for longitudinal observational studies in rheumatology. J Rheumatol 1999; 26(2):484-489.
- 1030 157. Wolfe F, Rasker JJ, Boers M, Wells GA, Michaud K. Minimal disease activity, remission, and the long-term outcomes of rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2007; 57(6):935-942.
- 1032 158. Wolfe F, Boers M, Felson D, Michaud K, Wells GA. Remission in rheumatoid arthritis: physician and patient perspectives. J Rheumatol 2009; 36(5):930-933.
- 1034 159. Aletaha D et al, 2010 Rheumatoid arthritis classification criteria: an American College of
 1035 Rheumatology/European League Against Rheumatism collaborative initiative. Ann Rheum Dis 2010,
 1036 69:1580-1588
- 1037 160. Neogi t et al. The 2010 American College of Rheumatology/European League Against
 1038 Rheumatism Classification Criteria for Rheumatoid Arthritis. Arthr Rheum Vol. 62, No.9 September
 1039 2010, 2582-2591
- 1040 161. Smolen J , Boers M, Abadie E, Breedveld F, Emery P , Bardin T , Goel N, Ethgen D, Avouac B, Durez P, Flamion B, Laslop A, Miossec P, Reiter S, Reginster J-Y, on behalf of the Group for the Respect of Ethics and Excellence in Science (GREES). Updating the 2003 European regulatory
- requirements for registering disease-modifying drugs to be used in the treatment of rheumatoid
- arthritis. Rheumatology 2011; doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keq413

1045	162. Miossec P, Verweij C L, Klareskog L, Pitzalis C, Barton A, Lekkerkerker F, Reiter S, Laslop A,
1046	Breedveld F, Abadie E, Flamion B, Dere W, Mpofu S, Goel N, Ethgen D, Mitlak B, Ormarsdóttir S,
1047	Rao R, Tsouderos Y, Reginster J-Y; on behalf of the Group for the Respect of Ethics and Excellence
1048	in Science (GREES); Biomarkers and personalised medicine in rheumatoid arthritis: a proposal for
1049	interactions between academia, industry and regulatory bodies. Ann Rheum Dis 2011;70:1713-
1050	1718